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May 31, 2023 

Dear Fellow Westborough Members, Families, and Friends: 

Welcome to the third volume in our e-publication A Diamond in the Rough:
Westborough’s Rich & Resilient History.  In this volume, we explore the tumultuous and
defining events of the 1940s that resulted in the members of Westborough “founding” a
new Club of the same name in November 1948. During this decade, Walter Pfeffer started
where he had left off in the late 1930s, struggling to balance difficult financial
circumstances with his continuing interest in offering a wide array of country club leisure
activities, especially golf, at the Westborough site. The notion of subdividing
Westborough’s property arose again, this time with greater momentum than past efforts.
Ultimately, however, thanks to tremendous community opposition, to Pfeffer’s support
and cooperation in continuing a country club at the site, and to the supreme efforts and
generosity of many of Westborough’s leading members at the time, the subdivision plans
were again scuttled and a renewed and enduring Westborough Country Club was formed,
which we celebrate now in its 75th year. 

As with each volume, historical context is important to appreciating the events of which
you read. The wide-ranging impacts of the second World War, the explosive residential
development of the surrounding communities, and changing means of transportation
were all instrumental in the 1948 founding. Fasten your seatbelts – this is going to be a
bumpy ride, but thankfully you already know the happy ending to this story! 

Enjoy! 

Hannah Rowland
Communications Manager

Rachel Barr
Membership & Marketing Director

Foreword

Jim Capek
General Manager
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Ted Zimmermann
Club Historian



2.5 acres of Westborough's
property is sold to the Webster
Groves Christian Church,
followed by 6 acres sold to the
Kirkwood School district - both
of which remain today.

May 12, 1947

A sale contract is drafted by
Pfeffer's ownership group,
Four-Cities Park Realty and
Glen-Oak Investment
Company, to purchase
Westborough property.

Feb. 1946

Jan. 1941

World War II officially
begins, changing the
landscape of America and
Country Clubs for the next
decade.

Westborough moves away
from a "pay-as-you-play"
structure and announces its
"unlimited privileges plan." 

Sept. 1, 1939

TIMELINE
ON THE WAY TO
OWNERSHIP
1939 - 1949
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August 17, 1948
Over 100 protestors bring
opposition to Glen-Oak
commercial and residential
re-zoning proposal.

Jan. 1, 1949

The first formally
recorded Westborough
membership meeting is
held.

Oct. 22, 1948

Nov. 13, 1948
The Missouri Secretary of State
issues a charter for a
benevolent corporation
named Westborough Country
Club. Our new Club is born!

The new member-owned
Club takes control of the
properties and facilities. 

Nov. 2, 1948
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Happy birthday, WCC!

At a special meeting, the
Board authorizes all steps
necessary to complete the
formation of the new Club's
member-owned incorporation.



From its inception to the early 1940s,
Westborough had mostly utilized a "pay-as-
you-play" membership structure, which
Pfeffer seemed to prefer, most likely
because it enabled him to market the Club
publicly, beyond what would be a smaller,
exclusive membership base. This was
certainly helpful to him when he and his
partners started Westborough in 1928 and
allowed them to quickly fill the Club’s
membership and generate revenues to
both offset expenses and pay down debt.
However, in March 1940, the St. Louis
District Golf Association eliminated "pay-as-
you-play" and other “public” formats from
District membership eligibility, effectively
ensuring that Westborough would not
revert to a "pay-as-you-play" club, at least if
it wanted to remain affiliated with the
District. This decision ended District
affiliation for Forest Park, Crystal Lake,
University City, and Creve Coeur golf clubs.   

MEMBERSHIP
IN THE

WAR
TIMES

Thus, in January 1941, Westborough announced its “unlimited
privileges plan,” which moved it completely away from the "pay-as-
you-play" structure.   

1940 Membership Application

1940 Kirkwood Area Map from the National Geologic Map
Database. Note the three country clubs, Woodlawn,

Westborough, and Algonquin, all within close proximity! Webster News-Times | January 17, 1941
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Looking at Westborough’s future longer-term, the District’s action set our Club on a collision-course with likely
subdivision and sale. The Club continued to face the same financial challenges that existed throughout much of
the 1930s. The lingering effects of the Great Depression were still prevalent and were complicated by mandatory
restrictions on essentials like food, fuel, clothes, and other items needed to support the war effort. By 1943, strict tire
and gas rationing regulations were a major concern in the St. Louis golf community. Rationing measures restricted
the mileage people could drive but had no specific language in the regulations that protected travel for “pleasure
driving." The USGA didn’t help matters when it stated that aiding the government’s war effort “in any way possible”
came before the needs of the game.   

The rationing not only affected the ability to get to and from the golf courses, but also made it tremendously
difficult to care for them – it’s not easy to run lawn mowing equipment without fuel and machine parts. Rationing,
however, was not the only source of adverse consequence of the war for golf courses. Courses lacked caddies,
greenskeepers, and laborers, many who were fighting in the war or working for defense contractors.    
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Westborough Grounds Crew

CIRCA
Long-time head greenskeeper,

in his Kirkwood police uniform.
RALPH GUYER

1948



Among the St. Louis District members, there were some who felt that these rationing regulations would actually
help clubs located on or near rail lines and bus routes, offering members easy access by public transportation. Also,
the regulations would have the unintended effect of fostering membership growth by people who lived in the
neighborhoods surrounding the courses. Westborough’s location was ideally suited to both of these circumstances.  

Post-Dispatch | April 16, 19447

Webster News-Times | January 31, 1941

THE RAIL LINE = 
KEY TO SUCCESS! 

THINK ABOUT THAT
NEXT TIME YOU'RE
STUCK AT THE TRAIN!

THE
VICTORY

OPEN
1942 - 1951

HOW DO WE ADJUST TO
THESE REGULATIONS?SO...

No one at the time knew how long
these regulations would endure.
The local District Golf Association
suspended its annual tournament
from 1942-1945, but in 1942 made
the best of the times by
introducing a tournament called
the “Victory Open,” which raised
funds for servicemen’s clubs,
including the USO. Although the
annual District championship
tournament was suspended only
from 1942-1945, the Victory Open
continued to run through 1951.  

Hal MaCoy (Westborough) and Bob Cochran tie after
their first round in the Victory Open – Cochran won the

event four times in its brief history.
Post-Dispatch | June 9, 1944
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No. 11 at Westborough,
where a well-hit shot

across the road leaves
you a short iron to the

green.  (No. 12 at
Westborough is

definitely off our list;
that’s murder).  

EVOLUTION OF THE

The 1940s era was a noteworthy time in Westborough’s
golf history, with key changes to the course layout,
leadership by historic golf professionals, continued
hosting of key District tournaments, and exhibition
matches with world-famous golf and entertainment
celebrities. 

In the early 1940s, the course was still laid out as it had
been since roughly 1915. However, with the passage of
time and the introduction of the par system, the course
ultimately changed from 36 OUT 36 IN (72 Par) to a 36 OUT
34 IN (70 Par) while covering essentially the same
distances. Hole No. 13 (No. 14 today), 230 yards at the time,
was changed from a par 4 to a par 3.  Hole No. 15 (No. 16
today), 443 yards at the time, was changed from a par 5 to
a par 4.  

Although not normally a
hole that garners much
attention, No. 11 at
Westborough was lauded by
historic sports journalist Bob
Burnes in August 1947 as
one of the 18 holes on his
dream course, although he
comically noted that No. 12
(today’s No. 13) was NOT one
of his favorites:  

At the time, No. 11 green
was situated just in front of
where today’s No. 12 green
sits, a noticeably straighter
and shorter hole.  In fact,
Arnold Palmer would take
an eagle 2 on No. 11 in 1954
when his drive carried the
road and he holed out with
a wedge (more about
Palmer at Westborough
will be published in our
fourth volume).

Top: Hole #11 in 1940.

Bottom: Aerial
photographs of hole #11
contrasting the 2018 and
1937 layouts.

Compare the top 1940s scorecard to this from 1929!

Golf Course
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OUT WITH THE OLD, IN WITH THE NEW!

The course itself went
through several noteworthy
changes in the 1940s.
Aesthetically, the beautiful
windmill pumphouse, that
had been a fixture in
Glendale for decades, was
razed in the mid 1940s in
favor of a smaller frame
structure.

Other interesting changes were part of an
$8,000 reconditioning project finished in April
1944. It was reported that the project was
intended to make the course easier and more
enjoyable for everyday golfers.  As such, the
treacherous No. 12 (today’s No. 13) was
reduced from 581 to 500 yards and several
traps and hazards were eliminated.

Clearly the change to No. 12/13 did not last
long, because by July 1949, that hole was
called No. 13 and listed at 582 yards.

Photo from July 1941
Photos looking west of the new

pumphouse. Provided by Wally Pfeffer, II.

Post-Dispatch | July 15, 1949 
Scores showing Westborough course’s
pars and distances during Eastern
Missouri PGA Match Play Open

...NEVERMIND!

Star and Times | April 25, 19449
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Original
#16 tee

Original
#16 green 

Another transition was taking place during the 1940s relating to the par 3s on the back nine holes. 
 

However, by 1947, a new 155 yard par 3 hole, No.
12, was also being played and sat where today’s
No. 12 is situated.  However, based on historical
photos, it appears that the original layout was
the opposite of today, with the green sitting
where the ladies tee box is on today's No. 12.

The original No. 16, a short par 3 listed from 98 –
103 yards and dating back to the original 1910
Bendelow layout, was still in place and played all
the way through 1949. 

#12 green in the late 1940s with the
clubhouse in the background.

Original
#15 green
(present-
day #16)
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Did you know that for at least 50 years (and perhaps
much longer), there was a two-story home right in the
middle of the Club’s property? It is unclear when this
structure was built, but it was seen as far back as 1925 in
a photograph of a Westwood Country Club event. The
house was located just west of today’s service building
that is next to the No. 8 tee box. By 1948, Walter Pfeffer,
Sr. had apparently lived in the house for several years. It
was reported that after he remarried in 1949, he, his
wife, and his son (Robert) would continue to live at the
house.  Prior to that, the house was most likely used by
the Club's managers. In 1952, head greenskeeper Ralph
Guyer and his family moved into the house and lived
there until the house was razed in 1971.

Original #15 green
(present-day# 16)

Original #16 tee

HOME SWEET 
Westborough

Left: Photo of #7 green facing Lockwood taken from the house walkway.
Right: Spectators on #2 green in 1925 stand with the house in the background.11

Walter Pfeffer's Packard with
1944 license plates parked in

front of the house. 



 1940s photos donated by
Wally Pfeffer, II. 

Below, aerial photos from 1958 and 2018 showcase the location of the home on the Westborough grounds. 
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Ralph is an iconic figure in Westborough’s history,
having worked for Pfeffer in the 1940s and
ultimately retiring in the late 1970s. Ralph’s nephew
Randy would later carry on the greenskeeper
duties, although Randy had a rough first day on the
job – April 1, 1978, when the Clubhouse suffered a
devastating fire. Ralph Guyer and his wife
celebrated their 25th wedding anniversary at the
house as announced in the Webster News-Times in
September 1954.  After the house was razed, the
Club acquired a home at 12 Elm in Glendale where
Guyer and his family moved. 



The professionals, players, and guests who roamed our course in the
1940s were legendary. The famous St. Louis amateur Jimmy Jackson,
then only a teenager, won the 1940 District Amateur championship
at Westborough. In the 1950’s, he would reign supreme at the
Westborough Round Robin (see the forthcoming fourth volume for
more on that event). Bob Cochran, another one of the St. Louis
District’s greatest amateurs ever, was a regular competitor at
Westborough. In July 1941, while holding the title of District
champion, Cochran set a new course record of 62. 

PLAYERS, PROS,andPROLIFIC GUESTS

Globe-Democrat | July 19, 1940

Post-Dispatch | July 28, 1941

Globe-Democrat | July 16,  1940

Globe-Democrat | July 19, 1940
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Westborough’s history of tremendous professionals continued throughout the
1940s. In April 1943, Westborough grabbed the top area golf professional of
that era, the legendary Johnny Manion, replacing Harry Walker. Walker had
succeeded Orville White in late 1933 and guided the golf side of the Club for a
decade. Manion had been the head pro at Sunset from 1920-1936, then left for
Meadowbrook when Sunset closed due to financial problems. While he would
only be at Westborough for three years, Manion brought great notoriety to the
Club through his alliances with notable golfers and celebrities. Only two
months after taking over as head pro, Manion hosted the famous Tommy
Armour in an exhibition match at Westborough in front of 2,500 spectators.
The next year, in May 1944, he held an exhibition event for his 51st birthday
with an all-star line-up. On his team were Elliott Whitbread, Eddie Held,
Jimmie Benson, Vince Fehlig, and George Kuehner. They opposed a team
comprised of Jimmy Manion, Bob Cochran, Jimmy Jackson, Jim Kearney, and
Frank Bredall. These players were considered to be among the local golf
royalty of the time.   Also during the 1940s, and likely started by Manion,
Westborough held an annual Hookers and Slicers tournament, which pitted
some of the areas finest golfers against one another in team play.  

JOHNNY MANION
Legendary

Johnny Manion and Walter Pfeffer
Globe-Democrat | July 19, 1940

 

HE RAN THE BOWLING
TEAM AS WELL!

Star and Times | August 24, 1943

Globe-Democrat | June 28, 1943

Star and Times | May 13, 1944
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In June 1945, Manion penned
this article in Golfdom
magazine, extolling the

virtues of knickers for men’s
golf attire .

Note the knickers!

Globe-Democrat | Oct. 16, 1945



Manion’s celebrity connections were front-and-center in 1945. On May 5, he hosted
an exhibition match among Byron Nelson, Sam Snead, Jug McSpaden, and Jimmy
Thompson in front of 3,500 spectators. Nelson, Snead, and McSpaden were the top
three professional golfers in the USA at the time, with Nelson being the top money-
winner that year and the leading money-winner of all time. Thompson, one of the
longest hitters in golf, replaced Craig Wood who was initially scheduled to
participate. The event was sponsored by the Lions Club of Oakland, with proceeds
going to its fund for underprivileged boys. 

Post-Dispatch | May 6, 1945Post-Dispatch | May 20, 1945
Globe-Democrat | May 6, 194515

1945 admission ticket to see the "World's Best Golfers in Action!"
at Westborough featuring Byron Nelson and "Jug" McSpaden

versus Sam Snead and Craig Wood.

And on the back...

All of the players signatures!



In typical manner, during the round Crosby engaged with the
gallery and signed autographs. There was one particular young fan,
however, whose autograph was unforgettable, and whose story was
published in newspapers throughout the Midwest. 13-year-old
Charles McClaren was told by his father (a Westborough member)
the day prior to the event that he had read about it in the
newspaper and that Charles could go with him if he was willing “to
risk the wrath of Miss Clay,” his teacher at Kirkwood Jr. High School.
Charles gladly risked it. During the match, Manion asked Charles if
would like to have Crosby’s autograph. Charles replied that he was
concerned about being late for school and would  need a good
excuse. Overhearing this, Crosby said, “See me at the 18th green.”
Charles certainly did and received a legendary handwritten note
from Crosby that read: Dear Miss Clay – Please excuse Charlie’s
tardiness – he and I were at the library.  

While Miss Clay was initially skeptical of the
note’s authenticity, she had to concede it after
Crosby’s play at Westborough and performance
at the Shriners Hospital were publicly reported
the next day! 

BING CROSBYFamous

Bing Crosby

Post-Dispatch |  May 20, 1945

Star and Times | June 5, 1945

Post-Dispatch | June 5, 1945
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While the exhibition match with Nelson, Snead, McSpaden,
and Thompson was planned in advance and well-publicized, a
more impromptu celebrity exhibition of Manion’s doing is just
as famous in Westborough history. On June 5, 1945, famed
singer and actor Bing Crosby found time to stop by
Westborough for an “off-the-record and between-trains affair”
at Westborough. The prior day he had been with Bob Hope in
Kansas City where he was in the midst of travels across the
country doing charity work, including “bond rallies, hospital
shows, and golf matches.” Crosby had a five-hour layover
waiting for his train to New York and was able to sneak in 18
holes of golf and visit the local Shriners Hospital for a benefit
performance. The gallery was small, no more that 50 people,
due to the match not receiving much prior reporting.   

List of excuses

My dog ate my

homework

Bing Crosby 

sighting at

Westborough

Post-Dispatch | June 5, 1945



WALTER AMBOGood-Hearted
In early 1946, a familiar face was back at Westborough as Chester O’Brien
returned from his over four years of military service.  However, the situation
at Westborough to which he returned was troubling. The Club’s future was
murky at best (see p. 25), and, with that uncertainty, Johnny Manion chose to
leave Westborough to take the head pro spot at Normandie where he had
started as a young caddie in 1903. To counter the loss, Westborough hired 31
year old Walter Ambo, an accomplished professional for his young age who
had been a flight officer and was “awarded the Distinguished Flying Cross,
the Victory Medal and the Bronze Star while serving in the China, Burma and
India theater.” Ambo would guide Westborough’s golf operations with great
success throughout the remainder of the 1940s. His season-opening
women’s clinics, which he began in 1948, became a tradition that was
continued by Ambo’s assistant pro, LeRoy Trotter, after Trotter became head
pro in 1950.

In November 1947, Ambo was named President of the Eastern Missouri PGA, and in that role
implemented a number of initiatives that benefitted the local golf community during the war
years. Under his leadership, one key initiative was to support military veterans. As reported in the
October 1948 issue of Golfdom: 

Eastern Mo. PGA is to boost golf among veterans hospitalized at Jefferson Barracks. St. Louis, following
recent visit and exhibition there by Walter Ambo, Westborough pro, Ray Schwartz of Norwood and Frank
Moore of Meadowbrook. . . 'Many of the fellows are severely handicapped and play from crutches, while one
fellow was swinging at the ball from a wheelchair. . . They take a keen interest in the game but are at
serious disadvantage due to lack of equipment and facilities. . . It wouldn’t take much money to build
several holes near the hospital for the boys and it would be a great help in improving their morale.' 

In March 1949, Ambo announced the introduction of a first-of-its-kind event for the
area “involving match play between amateurs and professionals after a qualifying
round.” It was “[m]odeled after the National P.G.A.” in that it “will reduce the field
to semi-finalists by two 18-hole rounds on Tuesday and another pair on
Wednesday. Then 36-hole semi-finals will be played Thursday, with a 36-hole final
on Friday.” The first of these such events was held in July 1949.  

Ambo was also part of one of the most unusual accomplishments in Westborough golf
history when in September 1948, both he and Elliott Whitbread had eagle 2s on No. 10.
While both of them getting eagles on that hole was unusual enough, it was how they got
their eagles that earned them the honor of “Stunt of the Week" in the St. Louis Star and
Times. After both hitting long drives, Whitbread's second shot was left only a little more
than a foot from the hole. Ambo’s second shot struck Whitbread’s ball, knocking it into the
hole, and his own ball then followed Whitbread’s giving them both eagle 2s! 

"
"

Star and Times
May 23, 1949

Star and Times | March 24, 1948

Post-Dispatch | July 1, 1949

Star  and Times | July 15, 1949 Star  and Times | September 2, 1948
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Another historic Westborough golf figure who
came on the scene in the 1940s was Jack
Purdum, who would become the driving force
behind the Westborough Round Robins of the
1950s.  Jack was an acclaimed amateur golfer in
Dallas City, IL prior to moving to Webster Groves
in 1945 at age 33.  He won medal honors in a St.
Louis district tournament in 1946. It was reported
that “[t]he strength of his game lies in drives that
carry farther than a train whistle,” and that he
was “one of the few golfers whose arms are
strong enough to permit use of woods extra-long
in the shaft and with weighted heads.  If the
golfer is strong enough to guide such clubs after
gravity takes hold of them on the swing, he has
an implement that almost could make par
possible with a billiard ball .” 

Heavy-Hitter
JACK PURDUM

AROUND THE COURSE
More

Post-Dispatch 

Star and Times | June 17, 1941

Globe-Democrat | June 19, 1946

Star and Times | Nov. 17, 1949
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Throughout the 1940s and proceeding into the
1950s, Westborough maintained a robust caddy
program. One particular caddy, Don Dupske,
was a regular champion in St. Louis District
caddy tournaments. Another excellent caddy
and golfer was Richard Heinlein, who (along
with his brother Robert) were recognized in
1949 at the annual Westborough caddy awards
dinner. Don's and Richard's stories will be told
more fully in Volume 4.

WESTBOROUGH'S 
 MEMORABLE CADDIES



 
 
 

LET'S HEAR IT FOR THE Ladies!

Belleville Daily Advocate | June 2, 1949

Photo off the #3 tee box.
Post-Dispatch | June 16, 1940

Star and Times | Aug. 12, 1948

19 Globe-Democrat | October 1, 1940



JACK TYLER'S BALL RETRIEVAL BUSINESS

One man's unfortunate tee shot is another man's treasure. A young man named Jack Tyler earned
a living through "retrieving rights" at Westwood and Westborough. He scaled his business to
include two other full-time employees and two part-time assistants. He estimated selling between
70,000-80,000 golf balls each year! Here's a glimpse at how he did it:

WHO SAYS YOU CAN'T RUN A LUCRATIVE BUSINESS FROM THE WESTBOROUGH LAKE?

Step MARK YOUR
TERRITORY.

Step BUY A BOAT
FOR THE DEEP

AREAS.
MAYBE THIS
IS ACTUALLY

STEP 1?

Step DON'T BE AFRAID
TO GET WET! A
RAKE WILL GET
BALLS OFF THE
BOTTOM OF THE

LAKE.

Step TRY ANOTHER
WAY OF
FISHING!

Step CHEMICAL WASH,
RINSE, AND DRY. 

GOOD 
AS NEW!

Step
SELL AND ENJOY

YOUR
 PAYDAY!
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& SOCIALSwim 

While Westborough boasted about the safety of its pool, they
did have a chlorine tank leak in July 1944 that sickened some
teenagers. Check out the Webster Groves fireman enjoying a
smoke while tending to one of the teenagers!

As had been the case ever since its installation by Walter Pfeffer
in 1928, the Westborough pool was the centerpiece of
summertime social activities at the Club in the 1940s. Whether
it was recreational or competitive swimming, Westborough’s
pool had an excellent reputation among the District country
clubs. During the 1940s, Pfeffer wisely publicized the sanitary
nature of the pool and the substantial efforts utilized to ensure
safe and enjoyable swimming. A special swimming
membership was introduced in 1942, offering house and
swimming privileges for $50. Tennis could be added for $10, or
for $100 you could get golf, tennis, and swimming. Later that
decade, in 1948, a new country club swimming conference was
created to put on four quadrangular meets that summer.
Logan Young was the Westborough swim coach at the time. 

Oh my...how times
have changed!

News-Times | May 28, 1942 Post-Dispatch | July 6, 1944

Star and Times | July 10, 1948

News-Times | June 3, 1943
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Oh hey there, high dive!
TALK ABOUT A LEGACY!

Star and Times | June 25, 1941
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Globe-Democrat | April 20, 1941

News-Times | July 2, 1942

Causing a 
RAQUET!

Andrew B. Lynn was born in Manchester, England in 1873 and immigrated to the
USA in 1880, where he became a US citizen in 1895. He, his wife Cora, and son
Lambert lived in Webster Groves. In our second volume, we reported that, in 1937,
Pfeffer had strengthened Westborough tennis by appointing Lynn as the Club's
tennis chairman. Lynn had been tennis chairman for 30 years at Woodlawn
Country Club (originally Kirkwood Country Club) until its closure in 1937. Lynn was
well-known as "Father Lynn" and the "Father of Tennis" in St. Louis County, where "
[he] organized the first tournament in the county and [had] since conducted every
yearly meet." In 1929, he and Pfeffer started a new St. Louis County Tennis League
to further promote tennis competition in the St. Louis area. In 1934, President Hoyt
of Woodlawn Country Club donated a silver loving cup called the "Father Lynn"
trophy to be awarded to the suburban District champion. Lynn brought the
annual county tournament with him to Westborough where it remained through
through 1943 before it had a three-year hiatus during World War II. It was resumed
at Westwood Country Club shortly after Lynn's death in 1947 at age 74.  

News-Times | July 1, 1943

23

Globe-Democrat | July 15, 1934
See Lynn in the middle holding the "Father Lynn" trophy

"Father of Tennis"
A.B. LYNN

IN ST. LOUIS COUNTY

Post-Dispatch | July 5, 1947

News-Times | Aug. 20, 1940

Westborough tennis continued under the leadership of A. B. Lynn through the 1940s.
Young Westborough tennis star Allen Richardson exploded onto the local and national
tennis scene thanks in large part to his instruction from "Father Lynn." Richardson won
back-to-back district junior titles, and among other accomplishments, was ranked No. 21
nationally. Lynn's influence in local tennis was still strong, with the Club continuing to
host the annual County tournament. Starting in 1942, the tournament was opened to
players outside the County because so many were enlisted in the war. 



In 1942, the U.S. Army selected
the old Mary Institute location
for its training center after
considering Westborough and
offering the opportunity to
Sunset CC, which declined.

In January 1943, a four-engine Army
bomber flew so low to the ground that it
bent tree tops and caused havoc over
the central St. Louis County area, with
residents claiming that the plane
appeared to almost land on both
Westborough and Algonquin.

Westborough continued to
have its annual horse show
through the 1940s, as shown in
reporting of the show in 1948.

In 1947, at the U.S. Open held at St.
Louis Country Club, former
Westborough caddy Charles Mach
carried the bag of Sam Snead, and in
an interview, recalled that it was the
first chance he had to caddy for
someone famous, although he
almost had the chance to caddy for
Bing Crosby at Westborough in 1945. 

While avoiding arrest in the
1930s, Walter Pfeffer wasn’t as
lucky in the 1940s, being
arrested on gambling charges
at Westborough in March 1942.
Cards, dice, and poker chips
were seized by authorities.   

In 1948, a former Westborough
member sued to divorce his wife
claiming that, due to her behavior,
she “jeopardized his job” and that,
because she had a “complete lack of
knowledge of any social graces” and
made herself so objectionable to the
staff and other members, he was
asked to leave the Club! 

Three dogs were rescued from
a 600-foot pipe underneath
Westborough after the dogs
had chased a critter into the
pipe when it was dry and
empty.

STRANGE...BUT TRUE!
BIZARRE STORIES FROM WCC'S HISTORY!

Post-Dispatch | March 22, 1942 Post-Dispatch | Jan. 12, 1942 News-Times | July 15, 1948

Post-Dispatch | June 15, 1947 Star and Times | July 13, 1948 Globe-Democrat | March 22, 1942

Star and Times | October 11, 1948
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REDEVELOPMENT RISKS
ARISE AGAIN

In the mid-to-late 1940s, as soldiers returned after fighting in
the war, many couples chose to move out of the cities,
heading for suburban ranch houses where they would start
their families. Some of those families were big, giving us the
“baby boomer” generation. The demand for affordable
housing in the area surrounding Westborough was high, and
large parcels of undeveloped real estate were becoming
scarce. For two decades, Westborough had lived under the
dark cloud of redevelopment. Pfeffer was receiving a steady
stream of offers, including one for $250,000 in the fall of 1945,
which he declined. However, in 1946, it appeared that the
time for redevelopment of Westborough had finally come.   

In February 1946, it was widely reported that negotiations
were underway and a sale contract had been drafted for
Pfeffer’s ownership syndicate, Four-Cities Park Realty
Company, to sell Westborough to a real estate firm headed by
John A. Reardon. The plans were to sell for between $325,000
- $350,000, and subdivide the property. Reardon was joined
by H. O. Byrd, Francis A. Reardon, and H. W. Rich in the
proposed purchase. Reardon said that the group was making
the purchase for “investment purposes” and that the Club’s
future was not yet determined. Pfeffer had already informed
Westborough members by letter about the pending sale,
noting that the sale would not close prior to November 1, and
promised that the Club would operate as normal throughout
the 1946 golf season. He also said that, should the deal close
sooner than the end of the golf season, refunds would be
made to the members. The deal was reported to include a
$5,000 earnest money deposit that had already been paid on
January 9, with further earnest money deposits of $20,000 to
be paid on March 1 and September 1, and the final payment
and deal closing on November 1. The subdivision of the
property, which was expected to be delayed into 1947 due to
labor and material availability, was tentatively planned to
include redevelopment of nine of the golf holes into
approximately 150 housing lots, leaving the clubhouse, pool,
and other related structures, along with the remaining nine
holes for possible lease. It was also noted that Pfeffer retained
an option on the property throughout 1946 with a first option
to lease the grounds in 1947. 

Post-Dispatch  | February 13, 1946

Star and Times | February 14, 1946

Post-Dispatch | February 14, 1946 Star  and Times 
February 13, 194625



                                                           the final paperwork was filed to close the sale to the Reardon syndicate, now
known as “Glen-Oak Investment Company,” for nearly $400,000. John Reardon said that there would be no
changes in management or policies of the Club in 1946 and that, eventually, the property would be subdivided for
residential uses with about 60 acres remaining for the clubhouse, pool, and nine-holes of golf. In July, Pfeffer
notified the members that all 18 holes would be available for use through the rest of 1946 and in all of 1947. He also
mentioned that any eventual change to a nine-hole course would not affect the golf shop, remaining club
activities including tennis and swimming, or clubhouse social activities such as dining.   

By March 1946,

TRANSFERRED

100 ACRES
FINAL PAPERS

FILED

$400,000

SALE

Star and Times | March 29, 1946 Globe-Democrat | March 17, 1946 Post-Dispatch | March 17, 1946 26



By February 1947, efforts to rezone 43 acres of the Westborough property
had progressed to the point where a plat had been submitted to Oakland’s
Planning Commission, with a public hearing to be held on March 10 to
review the proposed changes.  

YOU KNEW THIS WAS COMING!

While the future development status of the property and the status of
Westborough as an on-going entity remained uncertain, stories were told
that Pfeffer had, during this period, offered the Westborough members the
chance to buy the Club. However, as seen by the price at which Pfeffer sold
to Glen-Oak, it certainly was a steep ask for the members to raise that kind
of money, and as such, the members were said to have declined the offer.
Therefore, Pfeffer continued plans with Glen-Oak, and to further defray
costs, on May 12, 1947, 2.5 acres of the Westborough site were sold for
$22,500 to the Webster Groves Christian Church on which it would
construct a new church and facilities for its growing congregation. 

27

Webster News-Times | Feb. 20, 1947

Sketch of the "Henry Hough Oakland" school.

8 AND A HALF
ACRES...

GONE BUT NOT
FORGOTTEN!

The Club would eventually pay $1,000 plus taxes per year to the church as
rent on the acres that it had purchased. It was also announced at the time
that 6 acres of the northwest portion of the Westborough property had
been sold to the Kirkwood School district for $35,000, upon which the
district would later (in 1950) construct a new “Hough-Oakland School." 



Webster News-Times | May 22, 1947

Source and exact date unknown
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NOT GOING DOWN W

By August 1948, Glen-Oak Investment Company had adjusted its
plans and was seeking spot-zoning of the Westborough property
so that it could implement a planned commercial development
(costing approximately $140,000) of a 600’ x 300’ tract at Berry &
Lockwood and also construct 70 ranch-style homes on the
property.  The Oakland residents and those of the neighboring
cities, especially Webster Groves, rallied strong opposition.  On
August 17, over 100 unhappy protestors crowded in-and-outside
of the Oakland Missouri-Pacific Train station for a hearing on the
Glen-Oak proposal presented by H. W. Rich, vice-president of the
firm. Of those who spoke in opposition to the proposal were Rev.
Raymond McCallister, pastor of the Webster Groves Christian
Church, George C. Dyer of the Webster Hills Improvement
Association, and Mayor Clarence Appel of Webster Groves. After
the meeting, the Oakland alderman and Mayor George Rogge
took the matter under advisement.

Star and Times | Aug. 18, 1948

Post-Dispatch | Aug. 18, 1948
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WITHOUT A Fight

NOT IN THIS
NEIGHBORHOOD!

Shortly after this meeting, interest was growing
among the Westborough members in purchasing the
Club.  A member group, loosely organized, held
special “membership” meetings at the homes of the
“directors” to discuss the terms under which the
members would be willing to buy the Club. At a
September meeting (note that the meeting is said to
have occurred but no formal record has been located)
the members agreed to take over if a minimum of
200 would subscribe at $500 each (paying $200 down
and taking two notes of $150).   

SUPERMARKET

BAKERY

BEAUTY SALON

WCC MEMBERS

MAYBE WE
COULD BUY
THE CLUB...

Webster News-Times | Aug. 12, 1948 Star and Times | Aug. 3, 1948

Webster News-Times | Aug. 12, 1948
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CLUB IS
BORN

A month later, on October 22, 1948, the first formally
recorded membership meeting was held.  Lester Becker,
a member since 1942 and a name that is practically
synonymous with Westborough, presided over that first
meeting.  Becker’s was not the only name that would
carry on with reverence when discussing those early days.  
John Arnold, another founding father, served in the
capacity of Temporary Organizing Chairman, with Jack
Begeman handling Membership and Al Johnson chairing
publicity. 

By that time, the proposed terms of purchase were well-
formed. Arnold reported that: 

 [the Organization Committee] recommended that we
have our own organization under the name of
Westborough Country Club to be limited to four hundred
members to be governed by by-laws of the Club. It was
decided that each member should own a Certificate of
Membership which, should that member wish to leave
the Club or be transferred from the city, could be sold
back to the Club at the par value or the market value at
the time of purchase or could be sold or transferred to a
new member if that new member was acceptable by the
Board of Governors.   

Other topics of discussion included by-laws provisions on
membership classes, mortgages and financing of the
club, and payment of tax on memberships.  Also, a slate of
officers was nominated and accepted: 

THE FOUNDING

OFFICERS

PRESIDENT
EVERETT BAKER

VP GEORGE P.
KUEHNER

SECRETARY
GEORGE
SIPSEY

TREASURER
V. WELSCH

 Ed Butler (Finance Committee) 
Mel Feldman (Golf & Tournament Committee) 

Judge Lyon Anderson (Membership Committee) 
Jack Purdum (Greens & Grounds Committee) 

Lester Becker (House Committee) 
John Arnold (Legal Committee) 

 

DIRECTORS (TWO-YEAR TERM)

DIRECTORS (ONE-YEAR TERM)
Martin Connelly  (Publicity Committee) 

Gene Reese (Entertainment Committee) 
Joe Fitzsimmons (Rules Committee) 

Jack Begeman (Membership Committee) 
B.J. Jostrand (Swimming Committee)

*This might not be exactly what our founders looked like.

Minutes from the Club's first formally recorded
membership meeting.

our
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At a special meeting of directors on November 9, it was
reported that the day prior, the Circuit Court in Clayton had
granted a pro forma decree for the corporation
“Westborough Country Club,” and that the articles of
incorporation were filed in Jefferson City. It was also
reported that the number of members who had signed
was up to 195 and that a budget for 1949 had been
developed. Then, on November 13, the Missouri Secretary of
State issued the charter for a new benevolent corporation
named Westborough Country Club, and thus our new Club
was born. On January 1, 1949, the new Club took ownership
and control of the property and facilities. 

By November 2, at a special Board meeting, Arnold reported that all
articles relating to the creation of the new Club had been written and
signed and would be filed immediately.  Discussion at the meeting also
centered around the type of acquisition to be made.  The purchase would
involve the acquisition (in some form) of “Glen Oaks Inv. Corp.”  However,
the new Club needed to determine whether to purchase the Glen Oak
legal entity or only its assets.  Arnold reported that Glen Oak would not sell
only the assets, but it was also willing to agree to a second mortgage that
could be used as security to protect againstcontingent liabilities that
might arise. The Board agreed to proceed with that approach and
authorized Arnold to move forward with the steps necessary to complete
the formation of the new Club’s incorporation. From a financial
perspective, by that time, 185 members had committed and paid in full,
with some agreeing to pay by January 1, 1949, and others who signed
promissory notes. Cash on hand was $40,000. Becker, Welsch,
Fitzsimmons, Reese, and George Kuehner accepted an additional 12 notes
each from member financing. Other items approved at or reported on
during the meeting included: 

ANNUAL DUES
$200.00 plus tax for senior members,
$100.00 including tax for swimming
members, and $100 plus tax for junior
members. 

MANAGER
No new outside manager would be
hired for 1949, but William Ludwig,
Pfeffer’s assistant manager, would be
given the position of Acting Manager. 

GOLF PROFESSIONAL
Walter Ambo would be retained for
1949 on exactly the same basis as 1948. 

NEW YEARS EVE PARTY
Walter Pfeffer had agreed to relinquish the Club for New
Year's Eve to the new Westborough Country Club to hold a
party with the profits of that night going to the new Club.
Herb Mahler's Orchestra would be contracted for the
evening. Breakfast would be served instead of dinner, and
with all decorations, favors, etc., the price would be $6.00 per
person. A few improvements would be made before that
time and paid for from the profits of the party. The
improvements would not exceed $1,000 and would include
the bar, dining room, main lobby, and ladies' restrooms.

GOLF COURSE
A number of new trees would be planted promptly.
Occasionally, outside pro golfers would be brought in for
exhibition matches, and other celebrities like Babe Didrikson
were suggested as a drawing card. 

Other housekeeping topics included:

Early years were a period of financial
problems and with that came a
struggle to improve facilities,
appearances, and service of the Club.
Westborough was organized more
with enthusiasm than working capital
and much of the early work to restore
the club was done by the members
themselves! During the first Fall of
member ownership, an improvement
plan was started. Members were
asked to bring a tree by the Club or
donate towards a tree fund. Over 60
trees were planted in December
1948, and a short time later, more
trees were planted, and the hedge
along Lockwood was added. 

BYOT 
(BRING YOUR OWN TREE)

Membership Card No. 1
Vincent Welsch
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WESTBOROUGH COUNTRY CLUB GROUNDS - 1940

Then and now photographs of the clubhouse.
 

Right: Club balance sheet in August 1949. 

This aerial photo was on a post card attached to a collage created by Robert Niver Pfeffer. The post
card had been mailed to Walter Pfeffer, Sr.



MOVING FORWARD
WITH MOMENTUM

To create momentum in its membership drive, in February 1949, Westborough
held a party to honor prospective members. The Club boasted of the complete
renovation of its clubhouse and the appointment of John Bodeman as chef.
Course improvements under the watchful eye of Jack Purdum had been
made. By May 1949, the Club had a very positive outlook and reported to its
members on its success and upcoming efforts to further improve the Club. 

ON OCTOBER 28, 1949, THE CLUB HELD
ITS ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP MEETING. 

THEN IN 1950...

Walter L. ("Wally") Pfeffer, II ,  son of Robert Niver Pfeffer
and grandson of Walter L. Pfeffer, Sr.  While we thanked
Wally in Volume 2, we want to reiterate our gratitude for
the many wonderful items of memorabilia, especially the
photos, that have given us greater clarity on the evolution
of our Club and its property.

The Family of long-time Westborough Head
Greenskeeper, Ralph Guyer.   While much of the Guyer
Family's contributions will be presented in Volume 4,
there are important facts about 1940-1949 that they were
able to confirm, allowing us to confidently report the
history of that era. Thanks in particular go out to Ralph's
sons Ron and Gale, his grandson Stephen (son of Ron),
and granddaughter Pam (daughter of Ron).

Deb Hill-Jablonski, President of the Kirkwood Historical
Society. Although we also thanked Deb in Volume 2, her
contributions carried into this Volume, especially relating
to the 1947 property sale to the Kirkwood School District.

Webster News-Times | May 12, 1949

34Webster News-Times | Feb. 2, 1949

Webster News-Times | December 9, 1948

We wish special thanks to these individuals and institutions who
helped guide us in our research and provided wonderful images to

help us tell our story and make it more enjoyable for you, our readers.




